Inflammatory caspases and their substrates

Georgia Bateman

Masters by Research

University of York Biology

December 2021

Abstract

Inflammasomes are protein complexes comprised of a sensor, an adaptor, and a pro-caspase, activation of which leads to the cleavage and activation of Gasdermin D and the inflammatory cytokine IL-1B, resulting in the inflammatory form of cell death known as pyroptosis. Inflammasomes have been linked to a multitude of different conditions, including cancers and inflammatory diseases such as sepsis. Inflammasomes are divided into two categories, the canonical inflammasome that is activated through the detection of various detrimental stimuli, and the non-canonical inflammasome which is activated by LPS from Gram-negative bacteria. The aim of this project was to study the canonical and non-canonical inflammasomes in more detail though the use of various inhibitors, and then to identify novel inflammatory caspase substrates and study their role within the body. Through the use of proteomic analysis, several potential novel inflammatory caspase substrates were identified. After further analysis, IL-F3 was highlighted as a target for further study and validated in epithelial cell lines. This work provides the foundations for further study into the role of inflammatory caspases in the activation of this RNA-binding protein.

Author's declaration

I declare that this thesis is a presentation of original work, and I am the sole author. This work has not previously been presented for an award at The University of York, or any other University. All sources are acknowledged as references, formatted as per the Harvard Referencing style.

Contents

Abstract2
Author's declaration3
Introduction5
Cell death5
Caspases5
The canonical inflammasome and caspase-16
The non-canonical pathway10
Inflammatory caspase substrates10
Inhibition of the inflammasome12
Methods
Cell Culture13
Cell treatments13
LPS transfection13
Lactate Dehydrogenase Assay14
Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)14
Protein Precipitation14
Methanol and chloroform:14
Acetone:15
Western Blot15
Results
Caspase-4 activation in the monocytic THP-1 cell line:16
Effect of canonical inflammasome inhibition on known caspase-4 substrate GSDMD and pyroptotic cell death:
Effect of non-canonical inflammasome inhibition of the known substrate GSDMD and pyroptotic cell death:20
Optimisation of caspase-4 detection in other cell types:22
Caspase-4 activation in epithelial cells:24
Identification of novel inflammatory caspase substrates:
IL-F3 as a novel inflammatory caspase substrate:
Discussion
Conclusion
References

Introduction

Cell death

Cell death is a process that occurs ubiquitously in all organisms. A significant factor in the homeostasis of multicellular organisms is the balance between cell survival and cell death. This process is vital, both as a defence mechanism against detrimental stimuli during an immune response, and in the clearance of damaged or infected cells. However, dysregulated cell death can lead to significant damage of the host, inducing inflammation in autoinflammatory diseases, cancers, metabolic diseases, and microbial infections (Gautheron et al., 2020; Place and Kanneganti, 2020; Samir et al., 2020; Wong, 2011). Cell death can be both cause and consequence of inflammation, this can be difficult to distinguish in chronic diseases (Anderton et al., 2020). Currently, cell death can be categorised into regulated cell death (RCD) or accidental cell death (ACD). ACD refers to unexpected and severe insults of a physical, chemical, or mechanical nature that overwhelm any control mechanisms in place, it is completely unregulated and promotes an inflammatory response in the host (Fink and Cookson, 2005; Galluzzi et al., 2018). In contrast to ACD, RCD involves tightly genetically controlled and precise signalling cascades, with specific biochemical and immunological results (Tan et al., 2021; Tang et al., 2019). A form of RCD that occurs in strictly physiological scenarios is known as programmed cell death (PCD). Programmed cell death is an umbrella term that encompasses multiple different pathways, including apoptosis, necrosis, and pyroptosis. Apoptosis is a non-inflammatory form of PCD, and arguably the most well studied to date, however the focus here will be on the lytic, inflammatory form of PCD, pyroptosis (Cookson and Brennan, 2001). Pyroptosis is a double-edged sword, it is significant in protecting multicellular organisms from pathogens, however like all forms of cell death, excessive activation is detrimental to the host. The excessive activation of this highly inflammatory cell death can induce pathological inflammation leading to tissue damage, organ failure, and potentially septic shock (Mulvihill et al., 2018). Pyroptosis is involved in the pathogenesis of a wide range of diseases. including cardiovascular disease (Chen et al., 2016), Alzheimer's disease (Heneka et al., 2013), traumatic brain injury (Yuan et al., 2021), as well as CD4+ T-cell depletion in HIV infection (Doitsh et al., 2014). Both apoptosis and pyroptosis can be initiated by members of the protease family, caspases (Fuentes-Prior and Salvesen, 2004).

Caspases

The term caspase is derived from the proteases use of a cysteine catalytic site, and their rare specificity for cleavage at the carboxy-terminal of aspartic acid residues; they are **c**ysteine-dependent **asp**artate specific prote**ases** (Siegel, 2006). After originally being discovered in the *ced-3* gene in *Caenorhabditis elegans (C. elegans)* in 1993, the roles of caspases in innate immunity and development have since been characterised in a wide range of multicellular organisms (Li and Yuan, 2008; Yuan, 1993). Caspases are synthesised as inactive zymogens that are tightly regulated by proteolytic activation or homodimerization. Caspases consist of an amino-terminal (or N-terminal) domain of varying length, which can contain either a caspase recruitment domain (CARD) or a death effector domain (DED) motif, followed by

large and small catalytic subunits of ~20kDa and ~10kDa respectively that contain residues essential for substrate recognition and catalysis (MacKenzie & Clark, 2012; Van Opdenbosch & Lamkanfi, 2019)

At present, 12 caspases have been identified in humans, 10 in mice. This has led to the development of a general classification system, dividing caspases into two main groups in accordance with their structure, function, and activation mechanism. The first of these two groups are the apoptotic caspases, which can be further categorised into initiator or executioner caspases depending on which stage of the apoptotic cascade they are involved with. The human initiator subgroup includes caspase-8, -9, and -10; initiator caspases are monomeric and contain a long homotypic N-terminal domain (>90 amino acids) that is required for recruitment to their activation platform (Xu et al., 2019). The initiator caspases can be further divided by their involvement in either the extrinsic or intrinsic apoptosis pathway. The extrinsic pathway involves human caspase-8 and -10, which are activated through dimerization, aided by the death-inducing signalling complex (DISC) (Shalini et al., 2015). Caspase-9 is characterised as an intrinsic apoptotic caspase, activated through recruitment to the apoptosome (Kuranaga, 2012). Once the initiator caspases are activated, via DISC or the apoptosome, they then cleave the executioner apoptotic caspases (caspase-3, -6, and -7). Executioner caspases have a shorter pro-domain (<30 amino acids) and are synthesised as inactive dimeric zymogens. The cleavage and subsequent activation of these caspases by the initiator caspases allows for the cleavage of specific substrates to execute apoptotic cell death (Fuentes-Prior and Salvesen, 2004).

The second of the two main classification groups are the inflammatory caspases, comprised of caspase-1, -4 and -5 in humans, encoded by CASP1, CASP4, and CASP5 respectively, all clustered on a single locus chromosome 11q22. Mice express inflammatory caspase-1 and caspase-11 only, encoded by casp1, and casp11 genes on chromosome 9A1 (Bateman et al., 2021). Caspase-1 is highly conserved in both humans and mice. Caspase-5 is absent in mice and exists in humans and higher apes as the result of tandem genetic duplication (McIlwain et al., 2013); caspase-11 is thought to be the ortholog of caspase-4. Caspase-12 is also considered an inflammatory caspase in mice, however roles of caspase-12 have been debated (Vande Walle et al., 2016); humans express a truncated, inactive form of caspase-12, so will not be discussed further (Martinon and Tschopp, 2004). The best characterised inflammatory caspase is caspase-1. This caspase, originally named IL-1β converting enzyme (ICE), was identified whilst studying the processing of the inflammatory cytokine pro-IL-1ß (Kostura et al., 1989). Caspase-1 is activated by the canonical inflammasome, whilst caspase-4 and -5 are activated by the noncanonical inflammasome (Elizagaray et al., 2020).

The canonical inflammasome and caspase-1

The inflammasome pathways are essential for a multitude of different biological processes, however dysregulation can have detrimental results, including cancer development, and neurological and inflammatory diseases (Howrylak and Nakahira, 2017). Inflammasomes are high molecular weight protein complexes that typically

consist of a pattern recognition receptor containing an N-terminal pyrin domain and/or a CARD (NLRP/NLRC), which when stimulated sets off a series of downstream events that leads to inflammatory caspase activation (Próchnicki and Latz, 2017). The nucleotide-binding domain and leucine-rich repeat containing receptor (NLR) family was the first to be identified as inflammasome forming sensor proteins. Additional gene families that induce inflammasome formation have since been discovered, for example the absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2) receptor from the AIM2-like receptor (ALR) family (Kumari et al., 2020). Inflammasome-activating pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) are found predominantly in immune and inflammatory cells such as macrophages and neutrophils, responding to a diverse range of chemically different stimuli; some of the stimuli are highlighted in table 1 Whilst the study of inflammasomes has been done primarily in innate immune cells, there have been studies suggesting the presence of inflammasome complexes in epithelial cells throughout the body, including the skin, lungs, eyes, and intestines (Santana et al., 2016).

The nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptor 1 (NLRP1) was the first protein to assemble an inflammasome complex to be identified (Martinon et al., 2002). Mice carry three paralogs of NLRP1 (NLRP1a-c), of which NLRP1b is the best characterised. The NLRP1 (NLRP1b in mice) inflammasome is activated in response to *Bacillus anthracis* toxins, specifically the anthrax lethal toxin (LeTx), a causative agent of anthrax disease (Chavarría-Smith and Vance, 2015). NLRP1/NLRP1b has also been shown as an inflammasome sensor for eukaryotic toxoplasmosis-causing parasite *Toxoplasma gondii* (Ewald et al., 2014) and for a diverse range of proteases from the *Picornaviridae* family of viruses, including human rhinovirus (HRV), poliovirus 1 (PV1), and enterovirus D68 (EV68) (Bauernfried et al., 2021; Tsu et al., 2021).

The nucleotide-binding oligomerisation domain-like receptor 3 (NLRP3) responds to various pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), including ATP, monosodium urate crystals, nucleic acids, zymosan, β-glucan, and osmolarity or pH decrease, which are all signals of the presence of an infection, or a potentially harmful deviation from homeostasis (Al Mamun et al., 2021; Mariathasan et al., 2006; Martinon et al., 2006). Most studies focus on cells from myeloid lineage, however other cells use inflammasomes too, for example keratinocyte exposure to skin irritants or ultraviolet B irradiation triggers NLRP3 inflammasome (Fenini et al., 2020; Hasegawa et al., 2016). A 'priming step' for activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome has been described, in which the detection of stress stimuli by toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) or other receptors, activates the nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) pathway, which in turn upregulates transcription of NLRP3 (Fenini et al., 2020; Hasegawa et al., 2016). The NLRP3 pathway is arguably the most characterised inflammasome in human disease (Huang et al., 2020), however despite several mechanisms involving homeostatic disruptions being proposed, a single unifying signal leading to NLRP3 activation has not yet been identified.

A study by Schmid-Burgk *et al* involved a genomic-wide CRISPR Cas-9 screen to identify gene products involved in NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent cell death. This

study identified the mitotic Ser/Thr NIMA-related kinase 7 (NEK7) as an essential component of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. To further this discovery, He *et al* were able to conclude that Nek7 knock-out prevents caspase-1 activation and IL-1 β release in NLRP3 but has no effect on the NLRC4 or AIM2 inflammasomes (He et al., 2016). They then further concluded that potassium efflux promotes the NLRP3/Nek7 interaction that induces the NLRP3 inflammasome and subsequent caspase-1 activation. NEK7 has been shown to interact with the LRR domain of NLRP3 downstream of the reactive oxygen species (ROS) induction (Sharif et al., 2019; Shi et al., 2016).

The nucleotide-binding oligomerisation domain-like receptor family CARD containing protein4 (NLRC4) responds to more specific activation stimuli, binding to the inner rod, flagellin, or needle proteins of Type III secretion systems of bacteria (Kortmann et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2017). Unlike other inflammasomes, NLRC4 requires the involvement of an intermediate, the NLR neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein (NAIP), to become active (Vance, 2015; Zhao et al., 2011). NAIP acts as a sensor for the PAMPs listed above, before associating with NLRC4 to induce NLRC4 inflammasome oligomerisation.

The absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2) inflammasome-forming protein was originally discovered in the study of cancers (DeYoung et al., 1997). AIM2 is composed of a N-terminal PYD and a C-terminal hematopoietic interferon-inducible nuclear protein 200 (HIN-200) (Xue et al., 2019). The AIM2 inflammasome is activated via direct binding to cytosolic double-stranded DNA of microbial or host origin; the positively charged HIN-200 domain forms an electrostatic attraction with the negatively charged sugar-phosphate backbone of double-stranded DNA without sequence specificity, liberating AIM2 autoinhibition (Hornung et al., 2009; Matyszewski et al., 2018).

Finally, the pyrin inflammasome. Pyrin contains an N-terminal PYD followed by the B-box, α -helical coiled coil, and B30.2 domains, and is classed as a member of the tripartite motif (TRIM) protein family (Heilig and Broz, 2018). Pyrin is held in an inactive state via RhoA effector serine-threonine kinase PKN1 and PKN2 phosphorylation of pyrin, which promotes the interaction between pyrin and regulatory proteins 14-3-3 ϵ and 14-3-3 (Jéru et al., 2005). The inactivation of RhoA through bacterial toxin-induced modifications inhibits PKN1 and PNK2 phosphorylation of pyrin, preventing inhibition via the regulatory proteins and allowing activation of the pyrin inflammasome (Schnappauf et al., 2019). Interestingly, pathogens have found a way to overcome activation of the pyrin inflammasome. For example, the pathogenic bacteria *Yersinia pestis* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* inject an effector called YopM that, through direct phosphorylation of the PKNKs, is able to ensure pyrin autoinhibition (Chung et al., 2016).

Table 1:

Inflammasome sensors and their stimuli

Pattern Recognition Receptor	Examples of Activating Stimuli
NLRP1	<i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> (Levinsohn et al., 2012) LeTx (Boyden and Dietrich, 2006) Viral dsDNA (Bauernfried et al., 2021) <i>Picornavirus</i> proteases (Tsu et al., 2021)
NLRP3	ATP (Mariathasan et al., 2006) Monosodium urate crystals (Martinon et al., 2006) Nigericin (Pelegrin and Surprenant, 2007) Mitochondrial dysfunction/ROS production (Zhou et al., 2011) Ionic flux (including potassium, calcium, chloride and sodium) (Muñoz-Planillo et al., 2013)
NLRC4	T3SS needle protein & inner rod protein (Grandjean et al., 2017) Bacterial flagella (Kay et al., 2020)
AIM2	Cytosolic DNA (Hornung et al., 2009)
Pyrin	Rho GTPase inactivation (Xu et al., 2014)

Following PRR activation and oligomerisation via their specific stimuli, inflammasome sensors undergo homotypic interactions that lead to the activation of caspase-1, with or without the recruitment of the adaptor protein ASC. ASC is a 22kDa adaptor protein composed of both a PYD (N-terminal) and CARD (C-terminal) domain, initially named PYCARD (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 2007). Originally thought to be just a linker between PYD-containing receptors and CARD-containing caspase-1, it has become clear that ASC has a more complex role. Upon activation of the inflammasome receptors, ASC-PYD oligomerisation leads to the formation of ASC filaments, and the interactions between these ASC filaments through ASC-CARD interactions leads to the formation of the ASC speck, with a single cellular focus of around 1µm (Dick et al., 2016). The ASC speck recruits caspase-1 monomers, increasing local caspase concentration and promoting proximity-induced dimerization; however, ASC is not essential for caspase-1 activation. NLRC4 can activate caspase-1 through direct CARD homotypic interactions, as NLRC4 does not contain a PYD for ASC recruitment, however this is less efficient than in the presence of ASC (Boucher et al., 2018; Broz et al., 2010). The ASC speck has also been shown to persist outside the cell after pyroptosis, where it can function as an inflammatory signal in the circulation/peripheral tissue (Baroja-Mazo et al., 2014., Liston & Masters, 2017).

The non-canonical pathway

The non-canonical inflammasome activates caspase-4 and -5 in humans, and caspase-11 in mice. This occurs in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the major component of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. LPS is a PAMP significant in mediating sepsis and septic shock; LPS is the most common cause of sepsis, which accounts for 19.7% of deaths globally (Pérez-Hernández et al., 2021; Rudd et al., 2020). LPS is the major component present in the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, which is also made up of phospholipids, and is formed of three counterparts; lipid A, the core oligosaccharides, and the O-antigen (Candelli et al., 2021). Extracellular LPS is detected by Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) along with its co-receptors MD2 and cluster of differentiation 14 (CD14), which triggers a proteinprotein interaction cascade that results in the induction of pro-inflammatory genes such as IL-1β (Lin et al., 2015; Medzhitov et al., 1997). Cytosolic LPS however is detected by the non-canonical inflammasome. Upon binding to LPS, inflammatory caspase-4 and -5 undergo dimerization to become active (Karki et al., 2007; Rathinam et al., 2019). Until recently, it was believed that the caspases were directly binding to the lipid A portion of LPS via their CARD to trigger this pathway as this was shown in vitro (Shi et al., 2014), however recent studies in vivo and in cellulo identified guanylate binding proteins (GBPs) that facilitate the presentation of hydrophobic bacterial LPS to these caspases (Elizagaray et al., 2020; Meunier et al., 2014; Santos et al., 2020). Interferon-inducible GBPs recognise the outer portion of LPS, allowing for the assembly of the inflammasome. In humans, GBP1 initiates the assembly of the platform, GBP2 and 4 facilitate caspase-4 recruitment, and GBP3 controls activation of caspase-4 (Wandel et al., 2020). In mice, GBPs facilitate the recruitment and localisation of the IFN-inducible protein immunity-related GTPase family member b10 (IRGB10), destroying the invading pathogens membrane and causing the release of LPS and dsDNA, activating the non-canonical and AIM2 inflammasome respectively (Man et al., 2016; Shrivastava et al., 2017). However, humans do not express a functional IRGB10 (Ha et al., 2021).

Inflammatory caspase functions are defined by the substrates they cleave; however, these substrates are not currently well defined.

Inflammatory caspase substrates

Inflammatory caspases are highly specific proteases which follow defined determinants for substrate cleavage. The cleavage site of a caspase substrate is usually located within a flexible solvent exposed loop (Coombs et al., 1998). Caspases were thought to have a strict requirement for the presence of an aspartate in the P1 position, however recent studies have suggested the presence of glutamic acid or phosphorylated serine are also viable, expanding the potential for substrate identification (Seaman et al., 2016). Each caspase has a preferred sequence of amino acids at positions P2 to P4 (Timmer et al., 2009), for example inflammatory caspases prefer hydrophobic or aromatic amino acids at P4, glutamic acids at P3, and aliphatic amino acids at P2 (Seaman et al., 2016).

A well-studied substrate of inflammatory caspases is gasdermin D (GSDMD), a member of the pore-forming gasdermin family. Gasdermins are highly conserved in an array of organisms, ranging from fungi (Daskalov et al., 2020), coral (Jiang et al., 2020), to higher vertebrae (Ramos-Junior and Morandini, 2017). Mammalian GSDMD contains around 480 amino acids, divided into two domains, the N-terminal and C-terminal, which are separated by a linker loop (Kuang et al., 2017). The cleavage of GSDMD at the FLTD₂₇₅ site (LLSD₂₇₆ in mice) by caspase-1, -4 and -5 releases the N-terminal from its C-terminal inhibitory counterpart; the oligomerisation of the free N-terminals form pores within the plasma membrane, which induces a highly inflammatory form of cell death known as pyroptosis (Wang et al., 2020). The N-terminus alone can induce pyroptosis when expressed ectopically, whilst an overexpression of the suppressive C-terminus can block GSDMD-dependent pyroptosis (Mulvihill et al., 2018). The formation of 1.1-2.4nm pores by N-terminal oligomerisation disrupts the integrity of the cell membrane, causing a loss of ionic gradient and therefore an increase in osmotic pressure, resulting in swelling and subsequent plasma membrane rupture (PMR). This rupture releases intracellular components such as inflammatory cytokines and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), along with a variety of other DAMPs, further eliciting an immune response (Rayamajhi et al., 2013). Originally, PMR was thought to be a passive event that occurred following pore formation, however this is not the case. A recent study by Kayagaki et al., (2021) showed that the pores formed in response to GSDMD oligomerisation can release IL-1β, however the pore is too small for the release of LDH. It was demonstrated that the 16kDa protein NINJ1 is required for PMR, acting downstream of GSDMD, and that a NINJ1 deletion reduces the amount of protein released in pyroptotic cell death. The mechanism behind this is currently unknown. GSDMD pore formation also leads to a potassium efflux, enabling NLRP3 inflammasome activation downstream under certain circumstances (Baker et al., 2015). It is important to note that not all stimuli that initiate inflammasome assembly elicit pyroptosis, and not cell types undergo pyroptotic cell death after the activation of caspase-1, however the molecular mechanism behind this is not yet understood (Chen et al., 2014; Di Gioia et al., 2020; Wolf and Underhill, 2018).

It has also been well documented that caspase-1 cleaves the interleukin family members IL-1ß and IL-18. The interleukin-1 family members are a group of cytokines that are involved in a variety of innate immune processes, currently comprising of 11 members: IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-1Ra, IL-18, IL-33, IL-36a, IL-36β, IL-36γ, IL-36Ra IL-37, and IL-38 (Kaneko et al., 2019). The inflammatory cytokine interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß) is potent inflammatory cytokine that is crucial in infection and injury (Dinarello, 2018). This cytokine is found in multiple cell-types but is studied primarily in the context of inflammatory cells of myeloid lineage. Most cytokines contain a signal sequence leading to release from the cell via secretory vesicles, however IL-1ß does not contain this sequence and instead follows a less-conventional secretion pathway. This cytokine is also unusual in that it is expressed as a precursor to its active form. Inflammasome activation is responsible for both the maturation and secretion of IL-1ß (Monteleone et al., 2018). After cell exposure to PAMPs or DAMPs, an inactive 31kDa precursor, pro-IL-1β, is produced; cells containing this precursor are said to be 'primed'. Once cells are primed, the encounter of additional PAMPs or DAMPs will allow inflammasome activation and subsequent caspase-1 activation (LopezCastejon and Brough, 2011; Martín-Sánchez et al., 2016). The processing of pro-IL-1 β by active caspase-1 allows the release of mature IL-1 β from the cell through GSDMD pores (Kaneko et al., 2019b).

Inhibition of the inflammasome

The role of inflammasomes in a plethora of inflammatory diseases evokes a significant interest in the development of inhibitors that can work either directly on the inflammasome complex or prevent consequent substrate activation. Below is an outline of the inhibitors used throughout this work, with a brief description of their mechanism of action.

VX-765 is a well understood caspase-1 inhibitor that acts through covalent modification of the catalytic cysteine residue in the active site of the caspase, and has previously been linked to a reduction in IL-1β and IL-18 inflammatory cytokine release in a multitude of inflammatory models both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Doitsh et al., 2014; Flores et al., 2020; Van Opdenbosch and Lamkanfi, 2019; Wannamaker et al., 2007). MCC950 is another inhibitor that has been validated in multiple *in vitro* and *in vivo* disease models. This small-molecule inhibitor acts directly on the NLRP3 inflammasome to prevent downstream caspase-1 activation (Coll et al., 2019). The production of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) has been previously shown to induce NLRP3 inflammasome formation and subsequent caspase-1 activation. Ebselen is an antioxidant that has been previously shown to inhibit ROS production through peroxide scavenging, therefore preventing induction of the NLRP3 inflammasome (Jabaut et al., 2013).

Inhibitors can also work to prevent pyroptosis through direct interactions with the pore forming protein GSDMD. Dimethyl fumarate (DMF), disulfiram (DS), and Necrosulfonamide (NSA), all work to prevent the oligomerisation of p30-GSDMD, prevent both pyroptosis and the release of inflammatory cytokines (Hu et al., 2020; Humphries et al., 2020; Rathkey et al., 2018).

The importance of finding new substrates of inflammatory caspases is significant. A broader knowledge of the roles of inflammatory caspases in the body could provide new insight into potential biomarkers for infections, as well as in sepsis and other inflammatory-related diseases. Alongside this, finding new substrates provides targets for inhibitors of proteolytic cleavage of inflammatory caspase substrates, potentially providing new therapeutic options for a multitude of inflammatory caspase-4 in various cell types. The efficiency of the previously discussed inhibitors were then tested in THP-1 cells to further understand the inflammatory caspase substrates substrates were identified. This work provides an insight into the activation of inflammatory caspases, and the identification of new substrates opens a wide-range of new therapeutic targets.

Methods

Cell Culture

All cells were kept at 37°C with 5% CO₂ unless stated otherwise.

The human monocytic cancerous cell line THP-1 was maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium (RPMI-1640 – Gibco) with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS), supplemented with penicillin-streptomycin at 1% concentration and 10mM L-Glutamine. The addition of 50ng/mL of Phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA – Sigma-Aldrich) to the media of the THP-1 line allowed the differentiation of these cells into macrophage-like cells. After 48 hours of PMA treatment at 37°C, 5% CO₂, the media was replaced with fresh RPMI without PMA. The human intestinal epithelial cell line HIEC-6 was maintained in Opti-MEM[®] reduced serum media (Gibco) supplemented with 20mM HEPES, 10mM GlutaMAX[™], 10ng/mL EGF, 4% FCS, and 1% Pen/Strep. The immortalised human keratinocyte cell line (HACAT) was maintained in calcium-free DMEM supplemented with 10% FSC, Pen/Strep, and GlutaMAX[™]. HeLa were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM – Gibco), with 10% FCS, supplemented with penicillin-streptomycin and L-glutamine.

Cells were primed with 10ng/mL human interferon gamma (IFN γ) or Pam3CSK4 (1 μ g/mL H₂O – Invitrogen) overnight when necessary to induce expression of various canonical and non-canonical inflammasome components.

Cell treatments

Inhibitors were diluted with Opti-MEM[®], which was added to the cells on the morning of intended use. After the addition of fresh Opti-MEM[®]/Opti-MEM[®]+inhibitors the cells were incubated for 30 mins to 1 hour before transfection.

Inhibitor	Abbreviations used	Final	Target/s of inhibitors
	throughout text	concentration	_
VX-765	VX	25 µM	Caspase-1 and -4 inhibitor
MCC950	950	10 µM	NLRP3 inflammasome
			inhibitor
Dimethyl fumarate	DMF	10 µM	Oligomerisation of GSDMD
Disulfiram	DS	10 µM	Oligomerisation of GSDMD
Necrosulfonamide	NSA	10 µM	Oligomerisation of GSDMD
Ebselen	Eb	10 µM	ROS

Nigericin was used at a final concentration of 10μ M and was added directly to the cells where necessary after incubation with the selected inhibitors.

LPS transfection

The morning the cells were intended for use, the old media was discarded and replaced with fresh Opti-MEM[®] media (with or without inhibitors). LPS from *E. coli* K12 (LPS EK, InvivoGen) was diluted with Opti-MEM[®] to 10µg/mL LPS concentration. The LPS + Opti-MEM[®] was vortexed and Lipofectamine LTX (Invitrogen) was added at a concentration of 3%. The LPS mix was then left for 15 minutes to incubate at room temperature. After incubation, the LPS 3% lipofectamine

mix was added directly to the cells, whilst the negative controls were supplemented with Opti-MEM[®] to ensure all wells were at the same volume. Cells were spun for 5mins at 500 x g at room temperature before being incubated at 37° C, 5% CO₂ for 6 hours.

Lactate Dehydrogenase Assay

The level of LDH released from cells was used to assess pyroptotic cell death in each sample. The LDH cytotoxicity detection kit from Takara Bio was used for this assay, and everything was performed via the manufacturer's instructions. After incubation with/without relevant inhibitors for 6hours, 4μ L of 10% triton X-100 was added to the 100% lysis control wells and incubated for 5mins at room temperature to lyse the cells. All samples were transferred to new 96-well plates (15 μ L each) and 15 μ L of LDH substrate (LDH Cytotoxicity detection kit, Takara Bio) was added to each well. The plates were incubated at room temperature in the dark until a clear colour change was visible (roughly 25 mins), at this point 15 μ L of HCL stop solution (1N) was added to stop the reaction. A spectrophotometer was used at 490 nm to read the plates. Three repeats were obtained for each experiment.

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

IL-1β secretion from cells was measured by ELISA; everything was prepared via the manufacturer's instructions (Human IL-1ß Uncoated ELISA kit, Invitrogen). The ELISA plates were coated with human IL-1 β capture antibody (1in250 PBS dilution) overnight. Plates were washed three times with PBST and blocked for 1 hour at room temperature (250µL ELISA blocking buffer per well). Sample supernatants (10µL) were diluted with 240µL DPBS. Samples (40µL) were then added to each blocked well overnight along with the human IL-1β standards, prepared via manufacturer's instructions (12-fold serial dilution of 2/3, with an initial concentration starting at 2ng/mL). After overnight incubation of samples and standards at 4°C on the blocked plates, the plates were washed three times with PBST as before and 40µL/well of human IL-1β detection antibody was added (1in250 blocking buffer dilution). The plates were washed after a 1hour incubation at room temperature, and the avidin-HRP (1in250 blocking buffer dilution) was added (40µL/well) for 30 mins. After washing the plate thoroughly 5 times with PBST, TMB solution was added at 40µL/well; the stop solution (H₂SO₄1N) was added after a clear colour change was detected (roughly 25 mins). A spectrophotometer was used at 450nm to read the plates. Three repeats were obtained for each experiment.

Protein Precipitation

Methanol and chloroform:

Cellular protein extraction was done via the methanol and chloroform method. After the extraction of the cell supernatant from the well plate, methanol (250μ L) and chloroform (100μ L) were added to the extracted supernatant (250μ L). The samples were vortexed and centrifuged at 16.1 x 10^3 g and the upper phase subsequently removed. An additional 400µL methanol was added, samples were centrifuged again as before, the supernatant was removed, and the protein pellet was left to dry in the fume hood for roughly 30 mins. After 30 mins, the pellets were resuspended in 30µL SDS lysis buffer (1X TruPageTM LDS sample buffer – Sigma, in 1.5% SDS 50mM Tris buffer [pH 8]) boiled to 95°C, which was also added to the now-empty well plate (extract - 25μ L/well). The cell extract was then harvested by thoroughly scrapping each well and removing the content into fresh 1.5ml tubes.

Acetone:

For the acetone method of protein precipitation, 30μ L of 10% IGEPAL® was added to each well and swirled to mix. After two minutes, the liquid was transferred to fresh 1.5ml tubes and diluted with cold acetone (1in5 dilution). Samples were kept in at -80°C until use. On the day the samples were required, they were centrifuged at -4°C at 16.1 x 10³g for 10 mins whilst still cold, the supernatant was removed, and the pellet re-suspended in 25µL lysis buffer boiled to 95°C.

Western Blot

Western blotting was used to study cleavage of various proteins as an indication of canonical or non-canonical inflammasome activation. After protein precipitation, both the cell extract and supernatant were boiled to 95°C for 5 minutes to denature the proteins. After denaturation, 10µL of sample per lane was run on a 12% sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) in Tris-glycine running buffer at 160V for approximately 1.5 hours, then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using a Trans-blot Turbo system (Bio-Rad), for 7 minutes at 25V. The BlueEye prestained protein molecular weight ladder was used as a marker (Sigma-Aldrich). The membranes were then blocked with 1X tris-buffered saline-Tween 20 (TBST: P1379) containing 5% skimmed-milk powder for 1 hour at room temperature, then incubated overnight with 5% milk TBST and the following polyclonal antibodies: Caspase-4 at 1:2000 (Protein Tech, 11856-1-AP), GSDMD at 1:3000 (Cusabio, CSB-PA00956LA01HU), IL-18 at 1:2000 (Protein Tech, 10663-1-AP), IL-F3 at 1:2000 (Protein Tech, 19887-1-AP), G3BP1 at 1:2000 (Protein Tech, 13057-2-AP), U2AF2 at 1:2000 (Invitrogen, PA5-102524), and anti-histone C-terminus antibody as the loading control at 1:3000 (BioLegend, 819409). Membranes were incubated with antibody at 4°C or room temperature depending on antibody; antibodies incubated at room temperature had the addition of sodium azide solution at a final concentration of 0.02% to prevent bacterial growth. After overnight incubation the membranes were washed with TBST for 15 mins on an orbital shaker three times and incubated for a further 2 hours with either horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit (Invitrogen, A16096) or donkey anti-mouse (Invitrogen, A16017) IgG antibodies at 1:3000 concentrations at room temperature. The membranes were washed as before, then imaged using the BioRad Chemidoc MP™ imaging system. Immobilon[™] Crescendo Western HRP substrate (Millipore) or SuperSignal[™] West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate (ThermoFisher Scientific) were used to develop the blots. After imaging, HRP inactivation was performed (30 min incubation at 37°C with 30% hydrogen peroxide) and re-probed with other antibodies.

All illustrated figures were made using Biorender.com software.

Results

Caspase-4 activation in the monocytic THP-1 cell line:

Caspase-4 cleavage has previously been used as a readout of its activation. Firstly, we wanted to study caspase-4 cleavage, and optimise this experiment specifically in the monocytic THP-1 cell line. To detect caspase-4 cleavage, cells were first transfected with LPS to initiate the non-canonical inflammasome pathway or treated with nigericin to initiate the NLRP3 canonical inflammasome pathway. Nigericin is a toxin derived from Streptomyces hygroscopicus known to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome via potassium efflux (Armstrong et al., 2019). All cells were primed with IFNy 16 hours before use to amplify the cell response (Brubaker et al., 2020). Active caspase-4 was detected via Western blot analysis, as shown in figure 1a. To ensure the optimum image was obtained from this experiment, three exposures were used, labelled high, medium, and low relating to their exposure. This was to ensure the full-length band could be seen clearly alongside the caspase-4 isoforms. In the untreated cells, the full-length caspase-4 band can be clearly seen at 43kDa, whereas in the cells transfected with LPS and those treated with nigericin, the active p20 caspase-4 cleavage product was also detected. This was to be expected as the LPS transfection induced the non-canonical inflammasome, while nigericin activated the NLRP3 canonical inflammasome, both activating caspase-4. Traditionally, the NLRP3 inflammasome activates caspase-1, however here it can be seen that caspase-4 is activated as well (this has previously been shown in unpublished data). The addition of the caspase inhibitor VX-765 alongside LPS transfection blocked the detection of the p20 fragment, suggesting VX-765 prevented caspase-4 activation. The addition of the inhibitor MCC950 had no effect on caspase-4 cleavage after LPS transfection, which was also to be expected as this inhibitor should only affect the NLRP3 canonical inflammasome, and not the non-canonical inflammasome. This is further supported in the nigericin treated cells, in which MCC950 prevents caspase-4 cleavage, suggesting it did have an effect when used in the context of the canonical inflammasome. The caspase-4 cleaved products were detected in the supernatants, while the cellular extract was used as a loading control in this experiment, as this provided clear full-length caspase-4 bands but no cleaved product.

The results obtained from the LDH assay, shown in figure 1b, supported the caspase-4 activation seen in the Western blot experiments. LDH release was significantly reduced in the LPS transfected cells and the nigericin treated cells with the addition of VX-765. As seen previously in figure 1a, MCC950 did not affect LPS transfected cells as NLRP3 is downstream of caspase-4, and not required for the execution of cell death in this set up.



Figure 1: Activation of caspase-4 in the canonical and non-canonical inflammasomes in THP-1 cells. Panel 1a: an immunoblot of LPS transfected (LPS tr.) or nigericin treated THP-1 cells, all primed with IFNy with the addition of either VX-765 or MCC950 inhibitors. All caspase-4 immunoblots are from cell supernatant and are shown at various exposures to ensure the optimum image was obtained. Full length caspase-4 is denoted as FL. Panel 1b: LDH release in THP-1 cells primed with the same treatments as previously stated. The unit of LDH release is nmol/min/ml. Abbreviations used are: UT – untreated, VX – VX765, 950 – MCC950, nig – nigericin treated. All data shown is the result of three experimental repeats.

Effect of canonical inflammasome inhibition on known caspase-4 substrate GSDMD and pyroptotic cell death:

Caspase inhibition has the potential to significantly affect the prognosis of a multitude of different inflammatory conditions. Based on this, six inhibitors were chosen to study in the context of both the canonical and non-canonical inflammasomes. The inhibitors chosen and their inhibitory targets have been previously stated in the methods section; where each inhibitor reacts with the canonical pathway was shown in figure 2a. Many of the inhibitors chosen are thought to target cysteines in an unspecific manner, so it was hypothesised that these compounds could inhibit the activity of inflammatory caspases, as they are cysteine proteases (Hu et al., 2020; Humphries et al., 2020; Rathkey et al., 2018). To study these inhibitors in the canonical inflammasome pathway, the human monocytic cell line THP-1 was treated with nigericin before treatment with each inhibitor. The activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by nigericin and subsequent activation of caspase-1 was shown in figure 2b. The immunoblot shows full-length caspase-1 (FL), caspase-1 activation is evident by the p20 fragment, whilst the intermediate fragment is the transient p30/p10 active species (Boucher et al., 2018). Nigericin treatment alone caused both caspase-1 and GSDMD cleavage, whilst the inhibitors had varied results. Caspase-1 activation was inhibited by MCC950, however the level of full-length protein is lower than the other samples, which could be why the p20 fragment is not visible in this lane. VX-765, DS, and NSA treatment, however this is not mirrored in the GSDMD immunoblot. In the GSDMD immunoblot, two cleaved fragments are present, the p30 fragment labelled is caspase-1 dependent cleavage, while the lower band is thought to be caspase-3-dependent cleavage (Chen et al., 2019). Under certain conditions nigericin can activate caspase-8, which in turn activates caspase-3, which has been shown to cleave GSDMD at a different site to the inflammatory caspases, D84. This could explain why GSDMD was cleaved in the VX-765 treated samples despite no caspase-1 activation, as VX-765 is specific to caspase-1 and -4, so should have minimal effect on caspase-3 and -8 activity. Caspase-3 cleaves a smaller, inactive GSDMD fragment, explaining the lower band labelled p20.

Caspase-1 cleavage and GSDMD activation after nigericin treatment was further supported through lactate dehydrogenase release to quantify the level of cell death in these cells, as shown in figure 2c. LDH release was inhibited in cells treated with MCC950, whilst VX-765, DS, and DMF showed reduced LDH release compared to the untreated sample. NSA and Eb had no significant effect on the level of LDH released from the cells. An ELISA was done to detect IL-1 β cytokine release, a known caspase-1 substrate, with treatment of inhibitors, shown in figure 2d. IL-1 β was blocked in VX-765, MCC950, and NSA treated samples, in accordance with the inhibition of caspase-1 activation shown in fig 2b. Ebselen reduced IL-1 β secretion by around 50%, suggesting it was able to partially inhibit the NLRP3 inflammasome. While disulfiram did block caspase-1 activation, there was a significant level of LDH and IL-1 β secretion, even in untreated samples, suggesting that disulfiram could promote toxicity in cells.



Figure 2: **Canonical inflammasome inhibition by various inhibitors and the effects on known substrate GSDMD.** Panel 2a: a basic schematic of the canonical inflammasome and where the inhibitors interact with this pathway. Panel b: Nigericin-treated THP-1 cells primed with IFN_Y and treated with 6 inhibitors. Caspase-1 and GSDMD immunoblotted in cell extracts. GSDMD western is presented with dotted lines between lanes to show loading order has been changed for consistency with caspase-1 membrane. Full-length proteins are labelled FL, cleaved fragment labelled P20. The lowest fragment on the GSDMD immunoblot, labelled P20, is a caspase-3 cleaved inactive fragment. Panel c: LDH release in nigericin-treated (labelled NIG), IFN_Y-primed THP-1 cells compared to untreated cells with addition of same inhibitors. Panel d: IL-1β secretion by nigericin-treated (labelled NIG), IFN_Y-primed THP-1 cells compared to untreated THP-1 with addition of same inhibitors. The data shown is the result of three experimental repeats.

Effect of non-canonical inflammasome inhibition of the known substrate GSDMD and pyroptotic cell death:

We next wanted to assess the impact of the same inhibitors on the non-canonical inflammasome. To induce the non-canonical inflammasome. THP-1 cells were transfected with LPS to activate caspase-4. A schematic of the non-canonical pathway and where the inhibitors interact with this pathway are shown in figure 3a. The detection of caspase-4 cleavage in THP-1 cells with inhibitors was extremely difficult to obtain. The addition of the inhibitors gave inconclusive results in which the repeats contradicted each other, so the experimental data is not shown for caspase-4 detection in LPS treated THP-1 cells. GSDMD was cleaved in the samples treated with LPS as shown by the presence of the p30 cleaved fragment in figure 3b. This fragment was not present in the samples treated with VX-765, DMF, or NSA, suggesting these inhibitors successfully blocked GSDMD activation. The LDH assay shown in figure 3c mirrored this result, as LDH release was significantly reduced in VX-765, DMF, and NSA treated samples, suggesting GSDMD has not been able to induce pore formation in these cells. This is again suggested in the ELISA shown in figure 3d, in which IL-1β release was significantly reduced in the VX-765, DMF, and NSA treated cells. MCC950, DS and Ebselen showed a reduction in IL-1ß release, suggesting these inhibitors were able to partially block IL-1β release.

MCC950 did not inhibit GSDMD cleavage or LDH release when transfected with LPS but did show partial inhibition in the IL-1 β release. MCC950 inhibits the NLRP3 inflammasome, which is assumed to be required for IL-1 β cleavage. This suggests that caspase-4 could be responsible for the IL-1 β cleavage present in this experiment despite a caspase-4 Western blot not being obtained. Caspase-4 was activated via the non-canonical inflammasome by LPS transfection. As before, disulfiram seemed to induce toxicity in THP-1 cells suggested through LDH and IL-1 β secretion in untreated samples.



Figure 3: **Study of the non-canonical inflammasome and how inhibition effects known substrate GSDMD**. Panel 3a: A schematic of the non-canonical inflammasome and where the inhibitors used interact with the pathway. Panel 3b: LPS-transfected THP-1 cells treated with 6 inhibitors. GSDMD immunoblots in the cell extracts shown. The full-length GSDMD protein is labelled FL, whilst the active fragment is labelled p30. Panel 3c: LDH release in LPS-transfected, IFNγ-primed THP-1 cells compared to untreated cells with addition of same inhibitors. Panel d: IL-1β secretion by LPS-transfected, IFNγ-primed THP-1 cells compared to untreated THP-1 with addition of same inhibitors.

Optimisation of caspase-4 detection in other cell types:

Caspase-4 was extremely difficult to detect via Western blot in cell types other than THP-1. For this reason, a different protein precipitation method, the acetone method, was included alongside the methanol and chloroform (M/C) method used previously for direct comparison to ensure optimal caspase-4 detection. Figure 4a shows the comparison of these methods in HIEC-6 and HACAT cells. The M/C method involved separating the cell extract and supernatant of the samples, whereas the acetone method allowed the supernatant and extract to be concentrated and run together. The M/C method of protein precipitation provided slightly clearer results in both cell types, and faint cleavage bands in the extract, however the acetone method showed only full length caspase-4. To further optimise this experiment, the M/C and acetone comparison was done again, but using two different caspase-4 antibodies, one from SantaCruz (clone 4B7) at a concentration of 1:500, and one from ProteinTech at 1:2000 concentration. There is a significant difference in these results, shown in HACAT cells in figure 4b. The ProteinTech antibody provided clear full-length bands, with evidence of activation through a reduction of the full-length LPS transfected band in the extract of the M/C method. Despite these optimisation steps, a clear caspase-4 cleaved fragment could not be detected in these cells. The SantaCruz antibody gave very little signal at all, despite being used at a very high concentration of 1:500, so this antibody was not used in any experiments going forward.



Figure 4: **Optimisation of caspase-4 detection.** Panel 4a: comparison of protein precipitation methods in HIEC-6 and HACAT cells primed with IFNy. Cells were transfected with LPS and treated with VX-765 where labelled. Samples from both protein precipitation methods were run on one gel for a direct comparison. M/C denotes the methanol and chloroform method. The antibody used was ProteinTech caspase-4. Panel 4b: comparison of the ProteinTech and SantaCruz antibodies in HACAT cells primed with IFNy. Histone H3 is included as a loading control. Full-length proteins are labelled FL.

Caspase-4 activation in epithelial cells:

The active fragment of caspase-4 was extremely difficult to detect via Western blot in epithelial cells lines, even after multiple optimisation steps. The methanol and chloroform method of protein precipitation was used in all epithelial cell lines, with the ProteinTech caspase-4 antibody as previously optimised. We next wanted to further optimise caspase-4 detection by assessing the effect of priming with IFNy on these cells, and how this affected caspase-4 detection via Western blot. IFNy priming induces the expression of GBPs, which facilitate the recognition of LPS by caspase-4 in the non-canonical inflammasome (Tretina et al., 2019). The cleaved caspase-4 band was difficult to detect in HeLa and HIEC-6 cells, therefore a decrease in the amount of full-length fragment was taken as activation. In HeLa cells transfected with LPS, a reduction in the full-length caspase-4 band was seen in the IFNy-primed cells, but no reduction was seen in the cells without priming, as shown in figure 5a. VX-765 treatment after priming in the HeLa cells prevented the reduction of the full-length caspase-4 band, suggesting caspase-4 activation was blocked in these cells. Interestingly, MCC950 also seemed to block caspase-4 activation. The IFNy-primed HIEC-6 cells showed slightly different results; IFNy priming alongside LPS transfection and VX-765 treatment prevented full-length caspase-4 disappearance, while LPS transfection with the addition of MCC950 treatment caused a complete disappearance of the full-length caspase-4 band, shown in figure 5b. All cell types showed less, or no reduction of the full-length caspase-4 band in the samples without prior IFNy priming, suggesting IFNy is required for caspase-4 activation and for optimum detection via Western blot. However, we could not detect the caspase-4 cleaved fragment in the cells, even after optimisation. IFNy priming was used from here on when studying caspase-4. Nigericin treatment was not done in these cells as it had been seen in previous experiments that HIEC-6 cells did not respond to nigericin treatment. An LDH assay was done to accompany the HIEC-6 cell Western blot, as shown in figure 6b. LDH release was inhibited in LPS transfected cells when treated with the VX-765 caspase inhibitor in all cell types. As previously shown, MCC950 had no inhibitory effect in cells transfected with LPS. The 100% bars refer to the cells lysed with triton X-100 used as a control. The LDH results mirror those seen in the Western blot.



Figure 5: *Effect of interferon gamma priming on caspase-4 activation.* Panel a: HeLa cells transfected with LPS and treated with VX-765 or MCC950, with or without prior IFNy priming. H3 was included as a loading control. Panel b: same experimental set up as previously stated, in HIEC-6 cells. HeLa cells showed a reduction in full-length (FL) caspase-4 band in IFNy primed LPS transfected cells, while HIEC-6 showed a complete disappearance. MCC950 also caused a complete disappearance of full-length caspase-4 in HIEC-6 cells only. Images include the space the cleaved caspase-4 fragment would be if it was visible, labelled 'cleaved (not visible). The above data are all in the cellular extract, no bands were detected in the cellular supernatant in these experiments. Panel c: LDH release in HIEC-6 cells with the same treatment as previously stated. Bars labelled 100% refer to the lysed control cells, VX refers to VX-765 treatment, 950 to MCC950 treatment.

Identification of novel inflammatory caspase substrates:

After studying the activation of caspase-4 in multiple different cell lines, the next step was to identify possible substrates. Proteomic analysis was done in HIEC-6 cells treated with either LPS to activate the non-canonical inflammasome, or zymosan to induce the NLRP3 canonical inflammasome (Joly and Sutterwala, 2010). A schematic of this process is shown in figure 6a. The experimental process of mass spectrometry was carried out by Dr Adam Dowle from the Biology Technology facility at the University of York, then returned to our lab for analysis. From this data, potential substrates were analysed based on their cleavage stimuli, LPS or zymosan. The substrates that presented interesting cleavage patterns were then further analysed with the use of STRING. This allowed the visualisation of the pathways each potential substrates was developed with a focus on proteins involved with RNA binding, as this mechanism encompassed multiple substrates detected via mass spectrophotometry.



Figure 6: **Proteomic analysis to identify novel inflammatory caspase substrates.** Panel 7a: a schematic of the process of generating the proteomic data. Panel 7b: STRING network of all potential substrates identified in LPS transfected samples (Szklarczyk et al., 2021). Substrates highlighted in red are all proteins that have been previously shown to be involved in RNA binding.

IL-F3 as a novel inflammatory caspase substrate:

Proteomic analysis provided a list of potential inflammatory caspase substrates. After further analysis, interleukin enhancer binding factor 3 was the first substrate to be tested. An IL-F3 antibody was purchased from ProteinTech and used at a concentration of 1in2000. Cells were transfected with LPS to induce the non-canonical inflammasome and activate caspase-4.

In HeLa cells primed with IFNy, the cleaved IL-F3 fragment was detected when the cells were transfected with LPS, but not visible in the untreated samples. The cleaved fragment was also visible in the un-primed samples, but to a lesser extent. The addition of VX-765 reduced the level of the cleaved fragment, however this did not completely prevent cleavage. It is possible that the cleavage of IL-F3 in the presence of VX-765 was due to caspase-5, as this would not be inhibited by VX-765 which is specific to caspase-1 and caspase-4 only. In HIEC-6 cells, although the active fragment wasn't visible, there was a disappearance of the full-length band when transfected with LPS. VX-765 prevented this disappearance, suggesting IL-F3 cleavage was blocked by VX-765 in this cell type. MCC950 had no inhibitory effect on the cleavage of IL-F3 in either HeLa cells or in HIEC-6 cells when transfected with LPS, highlighting that this substrate was not NLRP3/caspase-1-dependent.

This experiment was also performed in THP-1 cells, however again these results provided conflicting data when repeated so have not been included as we could not provide conclusive results in this cell line.





Discussion

Since the discovery of the inflammasome by Martinon, Burns and Tschopp in 2002, inflammasomes have been implicated in a wide range of diseases (Martinon et al., 2002). The inhibition of caspases and GSDMD, both directly and indirectly, presents a new approach for therapeutics in inflammatory diseases. Part of this study included testing known caspase and GSDMD inhibitors to further understand inflammasomes. Despite their involvement in a multitude of inflammatory diseases, the substrates targeted by inflammatory caspases activated by inflammasomes have not been well outlined compared to their apoptotic counterparts. Here we identified multiple potential substrates via proteomics, highlighting IL-F3 as a promising target for further investigation.

Inhibition of caspase activation and subsequent substrate cleavage is a topic of investigation. Currently most inflammatory caspase inhibitors are poorly characterised, however further studies into potential caspase inhibitors could provide treatment to a significant number of diseases including cancers and sepsis. The caspase inhibitor VX-765 was taken to clinical trial after it showed promising results in the inhibition of caspase-1, and therefore inhibition of IL-1 β and IL-18 release, both in monocytes in vitro, and in animal models of inflammatory and skin diseases in vivo (Wannamaker et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2017). This inhibition was seen throughout this project. Despite its success in animal models, multiple clinical trials involving VX-765 have been terminated and there has been no recent reports of VX-765 after it was found to induce hepatic toxicity in animals after long-term exposure (Zahid et al., 2019). MCC950 is a direct NLRP3 inhibitor that was shown by Coll et al. to work both in vivo in multiple species disease models, and ex vivo in human cells (Coll et al., 2015). MCC950 has been shown to work by directly interacting with the NACHT domain's Walker B motif of NLRP3 in mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages, inhibiting hydrolysis of ATP and therefore NLRP3 formation (Coll et al., 2019). This inhibitor was used as a control to successfully block NLRP3 and therefore caspase-4 activation throughout this project in the THP-1 cell line stimulated with PMA to mimic 'macrophage-like' cells.

While VX-765 and MCC950 were consistent throughout this work, other inhibitors used during this project were less reliable. Disulfiram has been previously reported to inhibit pyroptosis by preventing GSDMD pore-formation (Hu et al., 2020), however the level of LDH released when treated with disulfiram in this project did not suggest that pyroptosis was reduced significantly compared to controls. In this study, the results seem to suggest that disulfiram induced toxicity in cells. This has been suggested in various other contexts, including Lyme disease and alcohol dependence during clinical trial, in which titration of disulfiram was used to optimise and overcome this (Gao et al., 2020; Petersen, 1992). This could explain the toxicity and increased LDH release of cells treated with disulfiram; this was concluded not to be within the scope of this project but is something that could be studied further.

Necrosulfonamide (NSA) has been reported to directly bind to GSDMD to inhibit Nterminal oligomerisation and therefore pore formation (Rathkey et al., 2018), however again this inhibitor had mixed results when used on THP-1 cells. When treated with LPS, NSA blocked GSDMD p30 cleavage, alongside LDH and IL-1 β release, however when treated with nigericin the results were less clear. We found that NSA blocked caspase-1 cleavage in THP-1 nigericin-treated cells but did not block the cleavage of GSDMD. NSA also significantly reduced the release of IL-1 β from our THP-1 cells but did not significantly reduce the level of LDH released from the cells. This suggests that the cells were still undergoing GSDMD-induced cell death, despite a lack of IL-1 β release. This would have to be studied further to be explained as this was not the expected outcome of this experiment. Ebselen and dimethyl fumarate both provided mixed results throughout the experiments and would have to be studied in more detail before a definite answer could be provided for the efficiency as inflammasome inhibitors.

Detection of caspase-4 in both monocytic and epithelial cell lines proved difficult throughout this work and required a significant amount of optimisation. Optimisation was done in the monocytic THP-1 cell line. This first involved comparing two different protein precipitation techniques. The methanol and chloroform method of protein precipitation was used throughout this project, however when difficulties with caspase-4 detection in THP-1 occurred the acetone method was suggested. The acetone method has previously been shown to yield a higher protein precipitation efficiency with a lower loss of protein when compared to the methanol and chloroform method in a comparative study in the context of rat brain structures (Fic et al., 2010). The acetone method also keeps both the cellular extract and supernatant together, which was thought to provide optimum caspase-4 detection with minimum protein loss. When compared however, the acetone method of precipitation did not allow for clear caspase-4 detection, so it was not used further. The second stage of optimisation was the antibody itself; it was thought that a different brand of antibody may allow for clearer detection of cleaved caspase-4, however the SantaCruz antibody produced no clear bands, even full-length caspase-4. We then compared the priming effect of IFNy in both HIEC-6 and HeLa cells, in which we found that priming allowed clearer visualisation of the full-length caspase-4, however we were still unable to clearly detect the cleaved fragment. The difficulty to detect caspase-4 was seen throughout both our lab, and in other studies. For example, Lagrange et al., found that they could not detect pro-caspase-4 in the supernatant of their monocytic human myeloid leukaemia cell line, U937 (Lagrange et al., 2018). They overcame this by overexpression of 3xFLAG caspase-4, which allowed for the detection of processed caspase-4 in the supernatant, shown in their supplementary data. Due to time restraints this would not have been possible in this project, however this could be considered if problems persist with caspase-4 detection in further studies.

The identification of inflammatory caspase substrates could provide potential for the development of new therapeutic options for a wide range of diseases, as well as provide further insight into inflammasomes roles within the body and disease. After extensive analysis of proteomic data retrieved from HIEC-6 cells treated with LPS to

stimulate the non-canonical inflammasome, and Zymogen to stimulate the canonical inflammasome, a list of potential substrates was developed. Due to time-restrictions, only one of these substrates was validated via Western blot, interleukin enhancer binding factor 3 (IL-F3). IL-F3 (also known as NF90/NF110) encodes a double stranded RNA binding protein that regulates transcription, translation, mRNA stability, and microRNA processing (Li et al., 2020). The gene expression regulatory properties of IL-F3 have linked this protein to multiple different cellular functions depending on the RNA it binds too. IL-F3 is a ubiguitous protein expressed in animal organisms, but not in eubacteria, archaea, or plants; this protein has been recovered from the nucleus and cytosol of mammalian cells and are able to travel freely between these spaces (Castella et al., 2015), which suggests that this protein is available for caspase cleavage. Currently, IL-F3 is most commonly associated with its role in the cellular anti-viral response within the innate immune system, through promoting the translation of multiple antiviral proteins including type I interferons (IFNs), which are vital in the prevention of viral replication (Watson et al., 2019). Abnormal expression of IL-F3 has also been linked to a number of malignancies through tumour proliferation, invasion, and metastasis (Liu et al., 2019). For example, it has been shown in vivo in hepatocellular carcinoma that knockdown of IL-F3 lowers mRNA and protein levels of cyclin E1, delaying cell-cycle progression and proliferation, therefore reducing tumorigenic capacity of cells (Jiang et al., 2015). Finally, it has also been shown that IL-F3 is vital for development, as IL-F3 -/- mice suffered fatal neuromuscular respiratory failure within 12 hours of being born. Despite the wide range of research into multiple functions of IL-F3, there is little to no literature available on potential links of inflammatory caspases to IL-F3. This was outlined as a promising inflammatory caspase substrate as it was cleaved in HIEC-6 cells when stimulated with both LPS, and with zymogen, however there was not time to further validate this protein, or to study the precise function of this protein within the context of the inflammasome.

Originally, the specific protein-protein interactions involved in caspase-substrate binding were going to be studied in more detail. The use of the Split-TEV system was going to be used to study this aspect of the project. This method utilises the tobacco etch virus (TEV), split into two fragments which are fused to the proteins predicted to interact. If there is an interaction between the proteins of interest, the TEV protease is able to reform its proteolytic activity, cleaving either fluorescent or luminescent reporters (Alonso-Gardón and Estévez, 2021; Wehr et al., 2008, 2006). This was originally suggested to study caspase-substrate binding as it is a highly specific assay that would allow the validation of individual novel substrates, and has been previously shown to work in apoptotic caspases (Gray et al., 2010). However, the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequently reduced laboratory time available, paired with the additional optimisation involved with caspase-4 detection that was not originally planned, it was not possible to develop this system in the context of inflammatory caspase-substrate binding. Primers were designed to incorporate the TEV and caspase binding sites, but this was as far as this progressed regarding this element of the project. The future of this project would involve first developing the TEV system using known substrates GSDMD and IL-1β, before applying this system to novel substrates identified by proteomic and Western blot analysis. While not developing this system is a limitation of this project, as this would have provided clear information on the interactions between caspases and their substrates, it lays the foundations for the group to study this further in the future.

While this study was done in the context of monocytic THP-1 cells, as well as HeLa, HIEC-6 and HACAT epithelial cell lines, it was not possible to do primary cell work in this timeframe. This is a limitation of this study, as despite having both biological and technical replicates, often cell lines produced conflicting results between repeats. Given more time, the results of this study would have been validated further in primary monocytes.

Conclusion

The study of inflammasomes is an emerging field of research that has made significant progress since its discovery in the early 2000s. Recent studies have highlighted the important of this homeostatic mechanism within the body, including proliferation, metabolism, and cellular repair. Inflammasomes are essential in the host response to pathogens, however dysregulation of this mechanism can result in the development of inflammatory diseases. The discovery of inhibitors such as MCC950 have vastly progress the understanding of inflammasomes, however there is still significant research to be done before other inhibitors become readily available. The identification and characterisation of novel inflammatory caspase substrates could open significant opportunity for the further understanding of inflammasomes. GSDMD and IL-1β have already provided the basis for a multitude of studies both into treatment and further understanding of inflammatory caspases. This work highlights IL-F3 as a potential inflammatory caspase substrate through Western blot, providing the foundation for further validation via the TEV system once developed. The discovery of inflammatory caspase substrates provides the targets for novel therapies for diseases related to inflammasomes, including inflammatory diseases and cancers, and is a significant pathway to be followed in the field of inflammasome research.

References

- Al Mamun, A., Wu, Y., Nasrin, F., Akter, A., Taniya, M.A., Munir, F., Jia, C., Xiao, J., 2021. Role of Pyroptosis in Diabetes and Its Therapeutic Implications. J. Inflamm. Res. Volume 14, 2187– 2206. https://doi.org/10.2147/JIR.S291453
- Alonso-Gardón, M., Estévez, R., 2021. Split-Tobacco Etch Virus (Split-TEV) Method in G Protein-Coupled Receptor Interacting Proteins, in: Martins, S.A.M., Prazeres, D.M.F. (Eds.), G Protein-Coupled Receptor Screening Assays, Methods in Molecular Biology. Springer US, New York, NY, pp. 223–232. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-1221-7_15
- Anderton, H., Wicks, I.P., Silke, J., 2020. Cell death in chronic inflammation: breaking the cycle to treat rheumatic disease. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 16, 496–513. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-020-0455-8
- Armstrong, H., Bording-Jorgensen, M., Chan, R., Wine, E., 2019. Nigericin Promotes NLRP3-Independent Bacterial Killing in Macrophages. Front. Immunol. 10, 2296. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02296
- Baker, P.J., Boucher, D., Bierschenk, D., Tebartz, C., Whitney, P.G., D'Silva, D.B., Tanzer, M.C., Monteleone, M., Robertson, A.A.B., Cooper, M.A., Alvarez-Diaz, S., Herold, M.J., Bedoui, S., Schroder, K., Masters, S.L., 2015. NLRP3 inflammasome activation downstream of cytoplasmic LPS recognition by both caspase-4 and caspase-5: Innate immunity. Eur. J. Immunol. 45, 2918–2926. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201545655
- Baroja-Mazo, A., Martín-Sánchez, F., Gomez, A.I., Martínez, C.M., Amores-Iniesta, J., Compan, V., Barberà-Cremades, M., Yagüe, J., Ruiz-Ortiz, E., Antón, J., Buján, S., Couillin, I., Brough, D., Arostegui, J.I., Pelegrín, P., 2014. The NLRP3 inflammasome is released as a particulate danger signal that amplifies the inflammatory response. Nat. Immunol. 15, 738–748. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2919
- Bateman, G., Hill, B., Knight, R., Boucher, D., 2021. Great balls of fire: activation and signalling of inflammatory caspases. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 49, 1311–1324. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20200986
- Bauernfried, S., Scherr, M.J., Pichlmair, A., Duderstadt, K.E., Hornung, V., 2021. Human NLRP1 is a sensor for double-stranded RNA. Science 371, eabd0811. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abd0811
- Boucher, D., Monteleone, M., Coll, R.C., Chen, K.W., Ross, C.M., Teo, J.L., Gomez, G.A., Holley, C.L., Bierschenk, D., Stacey, K.J., Yap, A.S., Bezbradica, J.S., Schroder, K., 2018. Caspase-1 selfcleavage is an intrinsic mechanism to terminate inflammasome activity. J. Exp. Med. 215, 827–840. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20172222
- Boyden, E.D., Dietrich, W.F., 2006. Nalp1b controls mouse macrophage susceptibility to anthrax lethal toxin. Nat. Genet. 38, 240–244. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1724
- Broz, P., von Moltke, J., Jones, J.W., Vance, R.E., Monack, D.M., 2010. Differential Requirement for Caspase-1 Autoproteolysis in Pathogen-Induced Cell Death and Cytokine Processing. Cell Host Microbe 8, 471–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2010.11.007
- Brubaker, S.W., Brewer, S.M., Massis, L.M., Napier, B.A., Monack, D.M., 2020. A Rapid Caspase-11 Response Induced by IFNγ Priming Is Independent of Guanylate Binding Proteins. iScience 23, 101612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2020.101612
- Candelli, M., Franza, L., Pignataro, G., Ojetti, V., Covino, M., Piccioni, A., Gasbarrini, A., Franceschi, F.,
 2021. Interaction between Lipopolysaccharide and Gut Microbiota in Inflammatory Bowel
 Diseases. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22, 6242. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22126242
- Castella, S., Bernard, R., Corno, M., Fradin, A., Larcher, J.-C., 2015. Ilf3 and NF90 functions in RNA biology: Functions of Ilf3 and NF90 in RNA biology. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA 6, 243–256. https://doi.org/10.1002/wrna.1270

- Chavarría-Smith, J., Vance, R.E., 2015. The NLRP1 inflammasomes. Immunol. Rev. 265, 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12283
- Chen, H., Lu, Y., Cao, Z., Ma, Q., Pi, H., Fang, Y., Yu, Z., Hu, H., Zhou, Z., 2016. Cadmium induces NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent pyroptosis in vascular endothelial cells. Toxicol. Lett. 246, 7–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2016.01.014
- Chen, K.W., Demarco, B., Heilig, R., Shkarina, K., Boettcher, A., Farady, C.J., Pelczar, P., Broz, P., 2019. Extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis activate pannexin-1 to drive NLRP 3 inflammasome assembly. EMBO J. 38. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2019101638
- Chen, K.W., Groß, C.J., Sotomayor, F.V., Stacey, K.J., Tschopp, J., Sweet, M.J., Schroder, K., 2014. The Neutrophil NLRC4 Inflammasome Selectively Promotes IL-1β Maturation without Pyroptosis during Acute Salmonella Challenge. Cell Rep. 8, 570–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.028
- Chung, L.K., Park, Y.H., Zheng, Y., Brodsky, I.E., Hearing, P., Kastner, D.L., Chae, J.J., Bliska, J.B., 2016. The Yersinia Virulence Factor YopM Hijacks Host Kinases to Inhibit Type III Effector-Triggered Activation of the Pyrin Inflammasome. Cell Host Microbe 20, 296–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.07.018
- Coll, R.C., Hill, J.R., Day, C.J., Zamoshnikova, A., Boucher, D., Massey, N.L., Chitty, J.L., Fraser, J.A., Jennings, M.P., Robertson, A.A.B., Schroder, K., 2019. MCC950 directly targets the NLRP3 ATP-hydrolysis motif for inflammasome inhibition. Nat. Chem. Biol. 15, 556–559. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0277-7
- Coll, R.C., Robertson, A.A.B., Chae, J.J., Higgins, S.C., Muñoz-Planillo, R., Inserra, M.C., Vetter, I., Dungan, L.S., Monks, B.G., Stutz, A., Croker, D.E., Butler, M.S., Haneklaus, M., Sutton, C.E., Núñez, G., Latz, E., Kastner, D.L., Mills, K.H.G., Masters, S.L., Schroder, K., Cooper, M.A., O'Neill, L.A.J., 2015. A small-molecule inhibitor of the NLRP3 inflammasome for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Nat. Med. 21, 248–255. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3806
- Cookson, B.T., Brennan, M.A., 2001. Pro-inflammatory programmed cell death. Trends Microbiol. 9, 113–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0966-842X(00)01936-3
- Coombs, G.S., Bergstrom, R.C., Madison, E.L., Corey, D.R., 1998. Directing Sequence-specific Proteolysis to New Targets. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 4323–4328. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.8.4323
- Daskalov, A., Mitchell, P.S., Sandstrom, A., Vance, R.E., Glass, N.L., 2020. Molecular characterization of a fungal gasdermin-like protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 117, 18600–18607. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2004876117
- DeYoung, K.L., Ray, M.E., Su, Y.A., Anzick, S.L., Johnstone, R.W., Trapani, J.A., Meltzer, P.S., Trent, J.M., 1997. Cloning a novel member of the human interferon-inducible gene family associated with control of tumorigenicity in a model of human melanoma. Oncogene 15, 453–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1201206
- Di Gioia, M., Spreafico, R., Springstead, J.R., Mendelson, M.M., Joehanes, R., Levy, D., Zanoni, I., 2020. Endogenous oxidized phospholipids reprogram cellular metabolism and boost hyperinflammation. Nat. Immunol. 21, 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0539-2
- Dick, M.S., Sborgi, L., Rühl, S., Hiller, S., Broz, P., 2016. ASC filament formation serves as a signal amplification mechanism for inflammasomes. Nat. Commun. 7, 11929. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11929
- Dinarello, C.A., 2018. Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity. Immunol. Rev. 281, 8–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12621
- Doitsh, G., Galloway, N.L.K., Geng, X., Yang, Z., Monroe, K.M., Zepeda, O., Hunt, P.W., Hatano, H., Sowinski, S., Muñoz-Arias, I., Greene, W.C., 2014. Cell death by pyroptosis drives CD4 T-cell depletion in HIV-1 infection. Nature 505, 509–514. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12940
- Elizagaray, M.L., Gomes, M.T.R., Guimaraes, E.S., Rumbo, M., Hozbor, D.F., Oliveira, S.C., Moreno, G., 2020. Canonical and Non-canonical Inflammasome Activation by Outer Membrane Vesicles

Derived From Bordetella pertussis. Front. Immunol. 11, 1879. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01879

- Ewald, S.E., Chavarria-Smith, J., Boothroyd, J.C., 2014. NLRP1 Is an Inflammasome Sensor for Toxoplasma gondii. Infect. Immun. 82, 460–468. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01170-13
- Fenini, G., Karakaya, T., Hennig, P., Di Filippo, M., Beer, H.-D., 2020. The NLRP1 Inflammasome in Human Skin and Beyond. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21, 4788. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21134788
- Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Wu, J., Yu, J.-W., Datta, P., Miller, B., Jankowski, W., Rosenberg, S., Zhang, J., Alnemri, E.S., 2007. The pyroptosome: a supramolecular assembly of ASC dimers mediating inflammatory cell death via caspase-1 activation. Cell Death Differ. 14, 1590–1604. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4402194
- Fic, E., Kedracka-Krok, S., Jankowska, U., Pirog, A., Dziedzicka-Wasylewska, M., 2010. Comparison of protein precipitation methods for various rat brain structures prior to proteomic analysis. ELECTROPHORESIS 31, 3573–3579. https://doi.org/10.1002/elps.201000197
- Fink, S.L., Cookson, B.T., 2005. Apoptosis, Pyroptosis, and Necrosis: Mechanistic Description of Dead and Dying Eukaryotic Cells. Infect. Immun. 73, 1907–1916. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.73.4.1907-1916.2005
- Flores, J., Noël, A., Foveau, B., Beauchet, O., LeBlanc, A.C., 2020. Pre-symptomatic Caspase-1 inhibitor delays cognitive decline in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease and aging. Nat. Commun. 11, 4571. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18405-9
- Fuentes-Prior, P., Salvesen, G.S., 2004. The protein structures that shape caspase activity, specificity, activation and inhibition. Biochem. J. 384, 201–232. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20041142
- Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Aaronson, S.A., Abrams, J.M., Adam, D., Agostinis, P., Alnemri, E.S., Altucci, L., Amelio, I., Andrews, D.W., Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli, M., Antonov, A.V., Arama, E., Baehrecke, E.H., Barlev, N.A., Bazan, N.G., Bernassola, F., Bertrand, M.J.M., Bianchi, K., Blagosklonny, M.V., Blomgren, K., Borner, C., Boya, P., Brenner, C., Campanella, M., Candi, E., Carmona-Gutierrez, D., Cecconi, F., Chan, F.K.-M., Chandel, N.S., Cheng, E.H., Chipuk, J.E., Cidlowski, J.A., Ciechanover, A., Cohen, G.M., Conrad, M., Cubillos-Ruiz, J.R., Czabotar, P.E., D'Angiolella, V., Dawson, T.M., Dawson, V.L., De Laurenzi, V., De Maria, R., Debatin, K.-M., DeBerardinis, R.J., Deshmukh, M., Di Daniele, N., Di Virgilio, F., Dixit, V.M., Dixon, S.J., Duckett, C.S., Dynlacht, B.D., El-Deiry, W.S., Elrod, J.W., Fimia, G.M., Fulda, S., García-Sáez, A.J., Garg, A.D., Garrido, C., Gavathiotis, E., Golstein, P., Gottlieb, E., Green, D.R., Greene, L.A., Gronemeyer, H., Gross, A., Hajnoczky, G., Hardwick, J.M., Harris, I.S., Hengartner, M.O., Hetz, C., Ichijo, H., Jäättelä, M., Joseph, B., Jost, P.J., Juin, P.P., Kaiser, W.J., Karin, M., Kaufmann, T., Kepp, O., Kimchi, A., Kitsis, R.N., Klionsky, D.J., Knight, R.A., Kumar, S., Lee, S.W., Lemasters, J.J., Levine, B., Linkermann, A., Lipton, S.A., Lockshin, R.A., López-Otín, C., Lowe, S.W., Luedde, T., Lugli, E., MacFarlane, M., Madeo, F., Malewicz, M., Malorni, W., Manic, G., Marine, J.-C., Martin, S.J., Martinou, J.-C., Medema, J.P., Mehlen, P., Meier, P., Melino, S., Miao, E.A., Molkentin, J.D., Moll, U.M., Muñoz-Pinedo, C., Nagata, S., Nuñez, G., Oberst, A., Oren, M., Overholtzer, M., Pagano, M., Panaretakis, T., Pasparakis, M., Penninger, J.M., Pereira, D.M., Pervaiz, S., Peter, M.E., Piacentini, M., Pinton, P., Prehn, J.H.M., Puthalakath, H., Rabinovich, G.A., Rehm, M., Rizzuto, R., Rodrigues, C.M.P., Rubinsztein, D.C., Rudel, T., Ryan, K.M., Sayan, E., Scorrano, L., Shao, F., Shi, Y., Silke, J., Simon, H.-U., Sistigu, A., Stockwell, B.R., Strasser, A., Szabadkai, G., Tait, S.W.G., Tang, D., Tavernarakis, N., Thorburn, A., Tsujimoto, Y., Turk, B., Vanden Berghe, T., Vandenabeele, P., Vander Heiden, M.G., Villunger, A., Virgin, H.W., Vousden, K.H., Vucic, D., Wagner, E.F., Walczak, H., Wallach, D., Wang, Y., Wells, J.A., Wood, W., Yuan, J., Zakeri, Z., Zhivotovsky, B., Zitvogel, L., Melino, G., Kroemer, G., 2018. Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018. Cell Death Differ. 25, 486–541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4

Gao, J., Gong, Z., Montesano, D., Glazer, E., Liegner, K., 2020. "Repurposing" Disulfiram in the Treatment of Lyme Disease and Babesiosis: Retrospective Review of First 3 Years' Experience in One Medical Practice. Antibiotics 9, 868. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9120868

Gautheron, J., Gores, G.J., Rodrigues, C.M.P., 2020. Lytic cell death in metabolic liver disease. J. Hepatol. 73, 394–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2020.04.001

Grandjean, T., Boucher, A., Thepaut, M., Monlezun, L., Guery, B., Faudry, E., Kipnis, E., Dessein, R., 2017. The human NAIP-NLRC4-inflammasome senses the Pseudomonas aeruginosa T3SS inner-rod protein. Int. Immunol. 29, 377–384. https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dxx047

Gray, D.C., Mahrus, S., Wells, J.A., 2010. Activation of Specific Apoptotic Caspases with an Engineered Small-Molecule-Activated Protease. Cell 142, 637–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.014

Ha, H.J., Chun, H.L., Lee, S.Y., Jeong, J.-H., Kim, Y.-G., Park, H.H., 2021. Molecular basis of IRGB10 oligomerization and membrane association for pathogen membrane disruption. Commun. Biol. 4, 92. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-01640-7

Hasegawa, T., Nakashima, M., Suzuki, Y., 2016. Nuclear DNA damage-triggered NLRP3 inflammasome activation promotes UVB-induced inflammatory responses in human keratinocytes.
 Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 477, 329–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.06.106

He, Y., Zeng, M.Y., Yang, D., Motro, B., Núñez, G., 2016. NEK7 is an essential mediator of NLRP3 activation downstream of potassium efflux. Nature 530, 354–357. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16959

Heilig, R., Broz, P., 2018. Function and mechanism of the pyrin inflammasome. Eur. J. Immunol. 48, 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201746947

 Heneka, M.T., Kummer, M.P., Stutz, A., Delekate, A., Schwartz, S., Vieira-Saecker, A., Griep, A., Axt, D., Remus, A., Tzeng, T.-C., Gelpi, E., Halle, A., Korte, M., Latz, E., Golenbock, D.T., 2013.
 NLRP3 is activated in Alzheimer's disease and contributes to pathology in APP/PS1 mice. Nature 493, 674–678. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11729

Hornung, V., Ablasser, A., Charrel-Dennis, M., Bauernfeind, F., Horvath, G., Caffrey, Daniel.R., Latz,
 E., Fitzgerald, K.A., 2009. AIM2 recognizes cytosolic dsDNA and forms a caspase-1-activating inflammasome with ASC. Nature 458, 514–518. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07725

Howrylak, J.A., Nakahira, K., 2017. Inflammasomes: Key Mediators of Lung Immunity. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 79, 471–494. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-021115-105229

 Hu, J.J., Liu, X., Xia, S., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhao, J., Ruan, J., Luo, X., Lou, X., Bai, Y., Wang, J., Hollingsworth, L.R., Magupalli, V.G., Zhao, L., Luo, H.R., Kim, J., Lieberman, J., Wu, H., 2020.
 FDA-approved disulfiram inhibits pyroptosis by blocking gasdermin D pore formation. Nat. Immunol. 21, 736–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-0669-6

Huang, H., Wang, J., Liu, Z., Gao, F., 2020. The angiotensin-converting enzyme 2/angiotensin (1–7)/mas axis protects against pyroptosis in LPS-induced lung injury by inhibiting NLRP3 activation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 693, 108562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2020.108562

Humphries, F., Shmuel-Galia, L., Ketelut-Carneiro, N., Li, S., Wang, B., Nemmara, V.V., Wilson, R.,
 Jiang, Z., Khalighinejad, F., Muneeruddin, K., Shaffer, S.A., Dutta, R., Ionete, C., Pesiridis, S.,
 Yang, S., Thompson, P.R., Fitzgerald, K.A., 2020. Succination inactivates gasdermin D and
 blocks pyroptosis. Science 369, 1633–1637. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abb9818

Jabaut, J., Ather, J.L., Taracanova, A., Poynter, M.E., Ckless, K., 2013. Mitochondria-targeted drugs enhance NIrp3 inflammasome-dependent IL-1β secretion in association with alterations in cellular redox and energy status. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 60, 233–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.01.025

Jéru, I., Papin, S., L'Hoste, S., Duquesnoy, P., Cazeneuve, C., Camonis, J., Amselem, S., 2005. Interaction of pyrin with 14.3.3 in an Isoform-specific and phosphorylation-dependent manner regulates its translocation to the nucleus. Arthritis Rheum. 52, 1848–1857. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21050

- Jiang, S., Zhou, Z., Sun, Y., Zhang, T., Sun, L., 2020. Coral gasdermin triggers pyroptosis. Sci. Immunol. 5, eabd2591. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol.abd2591
- Jiang, W., Huang, H., Ding, L., Zhu, P., Saiyin, H., Ji, G., Zuo, J., Han, D., Pan, Y., Ding, D., Ma, X., Zhang, Y., Wu, J., Yi, Q., Liu, J.O., Huang, H., Dang, Y., Yu, L., 2015. Regulation of cell cycle of hepatocellular carcinoma by NF90 through modulation of cyclin E1 mRNA stability. Oncogene 34, 4460–4470. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2014.373
- Joly, S., Sutterwala, F.S., 2010. Fungal pathogen recognition by the NLRP3 inflammasome. Virulence 1, 276–280. https://doi.org/10.4161/viru.1.4.11482
- Kaneko, N., Kurata, M., Yamamoto, T., Morikawa, S., Masumoto, J., 2019a. The role of interleukin-1 in general pathology. Inflamm. Regen. 39, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-019-0101-5
- Kaneko, N., Kurata, M., Yamamoto, T., Morikawa, S., Masumoto, J., 2019b. The role of interleukin-1 in general pathology. Inflamm. Regen. 39, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-019-0101-5
- Karki, P., Dahal, G.R., Park, I.-S., 2007. Both dimerization and interdomain processing are essential for caspase-4 activation. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 356, 1056–1061. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.03.102
- Kay, C., Wang, R., Kirkby, M., Man, S.M., 2020. Molecular mechanisms activating the NAIP-NLRC4 inflammasome: Implications in infectious disease, autoinflammation, and cancer. Immunol. Rev. 297, 67–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12906
- Kortmann, J., Brubaker, S.W., Monack, D.M., 2015. Cutting Edge: Inflammasome Activation in Primary Human Macrophages Is Dependent on Flagellin. J. Immunol. 195, 815–819. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1403100
- Kuang, S., Zheng, J., Yang, H., Li, S., Duan, S., Shen, Y., Ji, C., Gan, J., Xu, X.-W., Li, J., 2017. Structure insight of GSDMD reveals the basis of GSDMD autoinhibition in cell pyroptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 114, 10642–10647. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1708194114
- Kumari, P., Russo, A.J., Shivcharan, S., Rathinam, V.A., 2020. AIM2 in health and disease: Inflammasome and beyond. Immunol. Rev. 297, 83–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12903
- Kuranaga, E., 2012. Beyond apoptosis: caspase regulatory mechanisms and functions in vivo: Caspase mechanisms and functions in vivo. Genes Cells 17, 83–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2443.2011.01579.x
- Lagrange, B., Benaoudia, S., Wallet, P., Magnotti, F., Provost, A., Michal, F., Martin, A., Di Lorenzo, F., Py, B.F., Molinaro, A., Henry, T., 2018. Human caspase-4 detects tetra-acylated LPS and cytosolic Francisella and functions differently from murine caspase-11. Nat. Commun. 9, 242. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02682-y
- Levinsohn, J.L., Newman, Z.L., Hellmich, K.A., Fattah, R., Getz, M.A., Liu, S., Sastalla, I., Leppla, S.H., Moayeri, M., 2012. Anthrax Lethal Factor Cleavage of Nlrp1 Is Required for Activation of the Inflammasome. PLoS Pathog. 8, e1002638. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002638
- Li, J., Yuan, J., 2008. Caspases in apoptosis and beyond. Oncogene 27, 6194–6206. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.297
- Li, K., Wu, J., Qin, B., Fan, Z., Tang, Q., Lu, W., Zhang, Haipeng, Xing, F., Meng, M., Zou, S., Wei, W., Chen, H., Cai, Jian, Wang, H., Zhang, Hui, Cai, Jiayue, Fang, Ling, Bian, X., Chen, C., Lan, P., Ghesquière, B., Fang, Lekun, Lee, M.-H., 2020. ILF3 is a substrate of SPOP for regulating serine biosynthesis in colorectal cancer. Cell Res. 30, 163–178. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-019-0257-1
- Lin, X., Kong, J., Wu, Q., Yang, Y., Ji, P., 2015. Effect of TLR4/MyD88 Signaling Pathway on Expression of IL-1 β and TNF- α in Synovial Fibroblasts from Temporomandibular Joint Exposed to Lipopolysaccharide. Mediators Inflamm. 2015, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/329405
- Liston, A., Masters, S.L., 2017. Homeostasis-altering molecular processes as mechanisms of inflammasome activation. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 17, 208–214. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.151

- Liu, Y, Li, Y., Zhao, Y., Liu, Yang, Fan, L., Jia, N., Zhao, Q., 2019. ILF3 promotes gastric cancer proliferation and may be used as a prognostic marker. Mol. Med. Rep. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2019.10229
- Lopez-Castejon, G., Brough, D., 2011. Understanding the mechanism of IL-1β secretion. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 22, 189–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.10.001
- MacKenzie, S.H., Clark, A.C., 2012. Death by Caspase Dimerization, in: Matthews, J.M. (Ed.), Protein Dimerization and Oligomerization in Biology, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 55–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3229-6_4
- Man, S.M., Karki, R., Sasai, M., Place, D.E., Kesavardhana, S., Temirov, J., Frase, S., Zhu, Q., Malireddi, R.K.S., Kuriakose, T., Peters, J.L., Neale, G., Brown, S.A., Yamamoto, M., Kanneganti, T.-D., 2016. IRGB10 Liberates Bacterial Ligands for Sensing by the AIM2 and Caspase-11-NLRP3 Inflammasomes. Cell 167, 382-396.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.012
- Mariathasan, S., Weiss, D.S., Newton, K., McBride, J., O'Rourke, K., Roose-Girma, M., Lee, W.P., Weinrauch, Y., Monack, D.M., Dixit, V.M., 2006. Cryopyrin activates the inflammasome in response to toxins and ATP. Nature 440, 228–232. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04515
- Martinon, F., Burns, K., Tschopp, J., 2002. The Inflammasome. Mol. Cell 10, 417–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00599-3
- Martinon, F., Pétrilli, V., Mayor, A., Tardivel, A., Tschopp, J., 2006. Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the NALP3 inflammasome. Nature 440, 237–241. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04516
- Martinon, F., Tschopp, J., 2004. Inflammatory Caspases. Cell 117, 561–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.05.004
- Martín-Sánchez, F., Diamond, C., Zeitler, M., Gomez, A.I., Baroja-Mazo, A., Bagnall, J., Spiller, D.,
 White, M., Daniels, M.J.D., Mortellaro, A., Peñalver, M., Paszek, P., Steringer, J.P., Nickel, W.,
 Brough, D., Pelegrín, P., 2016. Inflammasome-dependent IL-1β release depends upon
 membrane permeabilisation. Cell Death Differ. 23, 1219–1231.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.176
- Matyszewski, M., Morrone, S.R., Sohn, J., 2018. Digital signaling network drives the assembly of the AIM2-ASC inflammasome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 115, E1963–E1972. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1712860115
- McIlwain, D.R., Berger, T., Mak, T.W., 2013. Caspase Functions in Cell Death and Disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 5, a008656–a008656. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a008656
- McKee, C.M., Coll, R.C., 2020. NLRP3 inflammasome priming: A riddle wrapped in a mystery inside an enigma. J. Leukoc. Biol. 108, 937–952. https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.3MR0720-513R
- Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., Janeway, C.A., 1997. A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature 388, 394–397. https://doi.org/10.1038/41131
- Meunier, E., Dick, M.S., Dreier, R.F., Schürmann, N., Broz, D.K., Warming, S., Roose-Girma, M., Bumann, D., Kayagaki, N., Takeda, K., Yamamoto, M., Broz, P., 2014. Caspase-11 activation requires lysis of pathogen-containing vacuoles by IFN-induced GTPases. Nature 509, 366– 370. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13157
- Monteleone, M., Stanley, A.C., Chen, K.W., Brown, D.L., Bezbradica, J.S., von Pein, J.B., Holley, C.L., Boucher, D., Shakespear, M.R., Kapetanovic, R., Rolfes, V., Sweet, M.J., Stow, J.L., Schroder, K., 2018. Interleukin-1β Maturation Triggers Its Relocation to the Plasma Membrane for Gasdermin-D-Dependent and -Independent Secretion. Cell Rep. 24, 1425–1433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.07.027
- Mulvihill, E., Sborgi, L., Mari, S.A., Pfreundschuh, M., Hiller, S., Müller, D.J., 2018. Mechanism of membrane pore formation by human gasdermin-D. EMBO J. 37. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201798321

- Pelegrin, P., Surprenant, A., 2007. Pannexin-1 Couples to Maitotoxin- and Nigericin-induced Interleukin-1β Release through a Dye Uptake-independent Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 2386–2394. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M610351200
- Pérez-Hernández, E.G., Delgado-Coello, B., Luna-Reyes, I., Mas-Oliva, J., 2021. New insights into lipopolysaccharide inactivation mechanisms in sepsis. Biomed. Pharmacother. 141, 111890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111890
- Petersen, E.N., 1992. The pharmacology and toxicology of disulfiram and its metabolites. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 86, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1992.tb03309.x
- Place, D.E., Kanneganti, T.-D., 2020. The innate immune system and cell death in autoinflammatory and autoimmune disease. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 67, 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2020.10.013
- Próchnicki, T., Latz, E., 2017. Inflammasomes on the Crossroads of Innate Immune Recognition and Metabolic Control. Cell Metab. 26, 71–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.06.018
- Ramos-Junior, E.S., Morandini, A.C., 2017. Gasdermin: A new player to the inflammasome game. Biomed. J. 40, 313–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bj.2017.10.002
- Rathinam, V.A.K., Zhao, Y., Shao, F., 2019. Innate immunity to intracellular LPS. Nat. Immunol. 20, 527–533. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0368-3
- Rathkey, J.K., Zhao, J., Liu, Z., Chen, Y., Yang, J., Kondolf, H.C., Benson, B.L., Chirieleison, S.M., Huang, A.Y., Dubyak, G.R., Xiao, T.S., Li, X., Abbott, D.W., 2018. Chemical disruption of the pyroptotic pore-forming protein gasdermin D inhibits inflammatory cell death and sepsis. Sci. Immunol. 3, eaat2738. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol.aat2738
- Rayamajhi, M., Zhang, Y., Miao, E.A., 2013. Detection of Pyroptosis by Measuring Released Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity, in: De Nardo, C.M., Latz, E. (Eds.), The Inflammasome, Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-523-1_7
- Rudd, K.E., Johnson, S.C., Agesa, K.M., Shackelford, K.A., Tsoi, D., Kievlan, D.R., Colombara, D.V., Ikuta, K.S., Kissoon, N., Finfer, S., Fleischmann-Struzek, C., Machado, F.R., Reinhart, K.K., Rowan, K., Seymour, C.W., Watson, R.S., West, T.E., Marinho, F., Hay, S.I., Lozano, R., Lopez, A.D., Angus, D.C., Murray, C.J.L., Naghavi, M., 2020. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990–2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet 395, 200–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32989-7
- Samir, P., Malireddi, R.K.S., Kanneganti, T.-D., 2020. The PANoptosome: A Deadly Protein Complex Driving Pyroptosis, Apoptosis, and Necroptosis (PANoptosis). Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 10, 238. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00238
- Santana, P.T., Martel, J., Lai, H.-C., Perfettini, J.-L., Kanellopoulos, J.M., Young, J.D., Coutinho-Silva, R., Ojcius, D.M., 2016. Is the inflammasome relevant for epithelial cell function? Microbes Infect. 18, 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2015.10.007
- Santos, J.C., Boucher, D., Schneider, L.K., Demarco, B., Dilucca, M., Shkarina, K., Heilig, R., Chen, K.W., Lim, R.Y.H., Broz, P., 2020. Human GBP1 binds LPS to initiate assembly of a caspase-4 activating platform on cytosolic bacteria. Nat. Commun. 11, 3276. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16889-z
- Schnappauf, O., Chae, J.J., Kastner, D.L., Aksentijevich, I., 2019. The Pyrin Inflammasome in Health and Disease. Front. Immunol. 10, 1745. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01745
- Schroder, K., Tschopp, J., 2010. The Inflammasomes. Cell 140, 821–832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.040
- Seaman, J.E., Julien, O., Lee, P.S., Rettenmaier, T.J., Thomsen, N.D., Wells, J.A., 2016. Cacidases: caspases can cleave after aspartate, glutamate and phosphoserine residues. Cell Death Differ. 23, 1717–1726. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2016.62
- Shalini, S., Dorstyn, L., Dawar, S., Kumar, S., 2015. Old, new and emerging functions of caspases. Cell Death Differ. 22, 526–539. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.216

- Sharif, H., Wang, L., Wang, W.L., Magupalli, V.G., Andreeva, L., Qiao, Q., Hauenstein, A.V., Wu, Z., Núñez, G., Mao, Y., Wu, H., 2019. Structural mechanism for NEK7-licensed activation of NLRP3 inflammasome. Nature 570, 338–343. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1295-z
- Shi, H., Wang, Y., Li, X., Zhan, X., Tang, M., Fina, M., Su, L., Pratt, D., Bu, C.H., Hildebrand, S., Lyon, S., Scott, L., Quan, J., Sun, Q., Russell, J., Arnett, S., Jurek, P., Chen, D., Kravchenko, V.V., Mathison, J.C., Moresco, E.M.Y., Monson, N.L., Ulevitch, R.J., Beutler, B., 2016. NLRP3 activation and mitosis are mutually exclusive events coordinated by NEK7, a new inflammasome component. Nat. Immunol. 17, 250–258. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3333
- Shi, J., Gao, W., Shao, F., 2017. Pyroptosis: Gasdermin-Mediated Programmed Necrotic Cell Death. Trends Biochem. Sci. 42, 245–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2016.10.004
- Shi, J., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., Gao, W., Ding, J., Li, P., Hu, L., Shao, F., 2014. Inflammatory caspases are innate immune receptors for intracellular LPS. Nature 514, 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13683
- Siegel, R.M., 2006. Caspases at the crossroads of immune-cell life and death. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 308–317. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1809
- Szklarczyk D., Gable, AL., Nastou, KC., Lyon, D., Kirsch, R., Pyysalo, S., Doncheva, NT., Legeay, M., Fang, T., Bork, P., Jensen, LJ., von Mering, C. 2021. The STRING database in 2021: customisable protein-protein networks, and functional characterization of user-uploaded gene/measurement sets. Nucleic Acids Res. 8;49(D1): D605-12.
- Tan, Y., Chen, Q., Li, Xiaoling, Zeng, Z., Xiong, W., Li, G., Li, Xiayu, Yang, J., Xiang, B., Yi, M., 2021.
 Pyroptosis: a new paradigm of cell death for fighting against cancer. J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 40, 153. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-021-01959-x
- Tang, D., Kang, R., Berghe, T.V., Vandenabeele, P., Kroemer, G., 2019. The molecular machinery of regulated cell death. Cell Res. 29, 347–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-019-0164-5
- Timmer, J.C., Zhu, W., Pop, C., Regan, T., Snipas, S.J., Eroshkin, A.M., Riedl, S.J., Salvesen, G.S., 2009. Structural and kinetic determinants of protease substrates. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16, 1101– 1108. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1668
- Tretina, K., Park, E.-S., Maminska, A., MacMicking, J.D., 2019. Interferon-induced guanylate-binding proteins: Guardians of host defense in health and disease. J. Exp. Med. 216, 482–500. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20182031
- Van Opdenbosch, N., Lamkanfi, M., 2019. Caspases in Cell Death, Inflammation, and Disease. Immunity 50, 1352–1364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2019.05.020
- Vance, R.E., 2015. The NAIP/NLRC4 inflammasomes. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 32, 84–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2015.01.010
- Vande Walle, L., Jiménez Fernández, D., Demon, D., Van Laethem, N., Van Hauwermeiren, F., Van Gorp, H., Van Opdenbosch, N., Kayagaki, N., Lamkanfi, M., 2016. Does caspase-12 suppress inflammasome activation? Nature 534, E1–E4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17649
- Wandel, M.P., Kim, B.-H., Park, E.-S., Boyle, K.B., Nayak, K., Lagrange, B., Herod, A., Henry, T., Zilbauer, M., Rohde, J., MacMicking, J.D., Randow, F., 2020. Guanylate-binding proteins convert cytosolic bacteria into caspase-4 signaling platforms. Nat. Immunol. 21, 880–891. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-0697-2
- Wang, K., Sun, Q., Zhong, X., Zeng, M., Zeng, H., Shi, X., Li, Z., Wang, Y., Zhao, Q., Shao, F., Ding, J.,
 2020. Structural Mechanism for GSDMD Targeting by Autoprocessed Caspases in Pyroptosis. Cell 180, 941-955.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.002
- Wannamaker, W., Davies, R., Namchuk, M., Pollard, J., Ford, P., Ku, G., Decker, C., Charifson, P., Weber, P., Germann, U.A., Kuida, K., Randle, J.C.R., 2007. (S)-1-((S)-2-{[1-(4-Amino-3-chloro-phenyl]-methanoyl]-amino}-3,3-dimethyl-butanoyl]-pyrrolidine-2-carboxylic acid ((2 R, 3 S)-2-ethoxy-5-oxo-tetrahydro-furan-3-yl)-amide (VX-765), an Orally Available Selective Interleukin (IL)-Converting Enzyme/Caspase-1 Inhibitor, Exhibits Potent Anti-Inflammatory Activities by Inhibiting the Release of IL-1β and IL-18. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 321, 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.106.111344

Watson, S.F., Bellora, N., Macias, S., 2019. ILF3 contributes to the establishment of the antiviral type I interferon program. Nucleic Acids Res. gkz1060. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz1060

- Wehr, M.C., Laage, R., Bolz, U., Fischer, T.M., Grünewald, S., Scheek, S., Bach, A., Nave, K.-A., Rossner, M.J., 2006. Monitoring regulated protein-protein interactions using split TEV. Nat. Methods 3, 985–993. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth967
- Wehr, M.C., Reinecke, L., Botvinnik, A., Rossner, M.J., 2008. Analysis of transient phosphorylationdependent protein-protein interactions in living mammalian cells using split-TEV. BMC Biotechnol. 8, 55. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-8-55
- Wolf, A.J., Underhill, D.M., 2018. Peptidoglycan recognition by the innate immune system. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 18, 243–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.136
- Wong, R.S., 2011. Apoptosis in cancer: from pathogenesis to treatment. J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 30, 87. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-30-87
- Xu, H., Yang, J., Gao, W., Li, L., Li, P., Zhang, L., Gong, Y.-N., Peng, X., Xi, J.J., Chen, S., Wang, F., Shao,
 F., 2014. Innate immune sensing of bacterial modifications of Rho GTPases by the Pyrin inflammasome. Nature 513, 237–241. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13449
- Xu, X., Lai, Y., Hua, Z.-C., 2019. Apoptosis and apoptotic body: disease message and therapeutic target potentials. Biosci. Rep. 39, BSR20180992. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20180992
- Xue, Y., Enosi Tuipulotu, D., Tan, W.H., Kay, C., Man, S.M., 2019. Emerging Activators and Regulators of Inflammasomes and Pyroptosis. Trends Immunol. 40, 1035–1052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2019.09.005
- Yang, X.-M., Downey, J.M., Cohen, M.V., Housley, N.A., Alvarez, D.F., Audia, J.P., 2017. The Highly Selective Caspase-1 Inhibitor VX-765 Provides Additive Protection Against Myocardial Infarction in Rat Hearts When Combined With a Platelet Inhibitor. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther. 22, 574–578. https://doi.org/10.1177/1074248417702890
- Yuan, D., Guan, S., Wang, Z., Ni, H., Ding, D., Xu, W., Li, G., 2021. HIF-1α aggravated traumatic brain injury by NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated pyroptosis and activation of microglia. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 116, 101994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2021.101994
- Yuan, J., 1993. The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1β-converting enzyme. Cell 75, 641–652. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90485-9
- Zahid, A., Li, B., Kombe, A.J.K., Jin, T., Tao, J., 2019. Pharmacological Inhibitors of the NLRP3 Inflammasome. Front. Immunol. 10, 2538. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02538
- Zhao, Y., Yang, J., Shi, J., Gong, Y.-N., Lu, Q., Xu, H., Liu, L., Shao, F., 2011. The NLRC4 inflammasome receptors for bacterial flagellin and type III secretion apparatus. Nature 477, 596–600. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10510